

Solitude: Connections and Solitude: Contribution to Loneliness Interventions and Policy Development

WHITE PAPER
June 2023

Lisa Jones (Buckinghamshire New University (BNU), UK)

Thuy-Vy Nguyen (Durham University, UK)

Virginia Thomas (Middlebury College, USA)

Netta Weinstein (University of Reading, UK)

Pamela Qualter (University of Manchester, UK)

Robin Hewings (Campaign to End Loneliness, UK)

Matthew Smith (Buckinghamshire New University (BNU), UK)

Genevieve Cseh (Buckinghamshire New University (BNU), UK)

Contents

1.	Introduction and Summary of Findings	3
2.	Background	4
	2.1 Details of Authors and Contributors	4
3.	Scope, Limitations, and Context	5
	3.1 What the paper covers	6
	3.2 What the research does not cover	6
4.	Method	7
	4.1 Criteria for the review	7
	4.2 Stage 1	7
	4.3 Stage 2	7
5.	Findings	8
	5.1 Social narratives and conversations need to shift away from stigmatising solitude to recognising its benefits	8
	5.2 The physical environment needs be a safe psychological space with opportunities for solituand interactions with others	
	5.3 Choice, individual differences, and opportunities to socially interact and spend time alone need to be addressed for good health and wellbeing	
	5.4 The skill of finding a balance between self-connection and community-connection needs to be actively taught	
6.	Recommendations	. 11
	6.1 Conversations and Definitions	. 11
	6.2 Physical Space	. 12
	6.3 Psychological Support	. 12
	6.4 Community and Educational Resourcing	. 13
7.	Conclusion and Next Steps	. 14
8.	References	. 15
9.	Further Resources	19

1. Introduction and Summary of Findings

The aim of this white paper is to contribute to a wider understanding of, and stimulate conversations about, what it means to be alone. We provide a review of the multi-dimensional experiences of aloneness, which include (1) the challenges of loneliness, and (2) the benefits of solitude. It is designed to guide policy through examining the convergence and divergence points between enjoyable and distressing moments of aloneness. The mapping of these broader concepts of aloneness highlights how solitude interventions might be relevant for the many people who are isolated, feel lonely, and have poor psychological health.

The paper discusses what is already known and understood within both loneliness and solitude research, taking note of the current policy direction for alleviating loneliness. We encourage anyone who is involved in research, delivery, or policy on loneliness and mental health to read and consider the findings from this paper. The literature on solitude benefits contributes more nuanced and balanced understanding and insights to the existing work on loneliness, supporting community mental health across the UK.

The findings highlight the importance of positive and meaningful connections. This means social, community, environment, and self-connection. For instance, it is important that we have authentic and enjoyable relationships and interactions with others, both close and loose ties, and to feel safe where we live, and to enjoy the natural environment and community we live in. Significantly, research also indicates that we need to enjoy our own company and be able to spend some time alone. There is a higher likelihood of helplessness, alienation, distrust, loneliness, and isolation when such positive and meaningful connections with others and ourselves are not of good quality or are missing altogether. A key message from this paper is to value both alone time and social interactions, both of which need to be self-determined and embedded in safe and healthy communities.



To access a digital version of this document, and download a copy, please use this QR code.

2. Background

This review of literature on loneliness and solitude. with a focus on adult populations, was supported by the QR Policy fund at Buckinghamshire New University. An essential part of this project has been to engage with expertise within academia and policy development to identify ways in which solitude research offers new insights and opportunities for policy activity aiming to tackle loneliness, isolation, and related mental health concerns.

Researchers and practitioners who work within the areas of loneliness and/or solitude have contributed to this white paper. These valuable expert voices have contributed evidence-based insights. It is out of this work that the current white paper has been developed, which aims to add to the conversation of how policy and support work can be implemented to enable high levels of wellbeing and connection within communities in the UK.

2.1 Details of Authors and Contributors

- Lisa Jones, Project Lead & Ph.D. Candidate, BNU. Email: Lisa.jones@bnu.ac.uk
- Dr.Thuy-Vy Nguyen, Assistant Professor, Durham University. Email: thuy-vy.nguyen@durham.ac.uk https://www.durham.ac.uk/staff/thuy-vy-nguyen/
- Dr.Virginia Thomas, Assistant Professor, Middlebury College, USA. Email: vthomas@middlebury.edu https://www.middlebury.edu/college/people/virginiathomas
- Dr.Netta Weinstein, Professor, University of Reading. Email: n.weinstein@reading.ac.uk https://www.reading.ac.uk/pcls/staff/netta-weinstein
- Dr.Pamela Qualter, Professor, University of Manchester. Email: pamela.qualter@manchester.axc. https://research.manchester.ac.uk/en/persons/ pamela.qualter/publications/
- · Robin Hewings, Director, Campaign to End Loneliness. Email: robin@campaigntoendloneliness. org.uk
- Vinal K. Karania*, Age UK. Email: vinal.karania@ ageuk.org.uk
- Dr. Matthew Smith, Associate Professor, BNU. Email: matthew.smith@bnu.ac.uk
- Dr.Ceri Sims*, Associate Professor, BNU. Email: ceri.sims@bnu.ac.uk
- Dr.Genevieve Cseh, BNU. Email: genevieve.cseh@

^{*}Contributor only. No responsibility is assumed for the overall content of this paper.

3. Scope, Limitations, and Context

This is the first white paper that integrates knowledge and expertise from both loneliness and solitude research for the purpose of informing policy development. It opens dialogue about how research on solitude offers a new lens on loneliness to empower individuals and communities to strengthen their wellbeing. Using a broad lens, it examines feeling and being alone.

The exploration into the differences and similarities between feeling lonely and being in solitude is not entirely new. For instance, earlier research into the qualities of alone time characterised solitude primarily as loneliness (a negative solitude experience), inner-directed solitude (a positive solitude experience aimed at turning inwards), or outer-directed solitude (a positive solitude experience characterised by a sense of intimacy with others or spirituality; Long et al., 2003). Since then, research has extended its understanding of both loneliness and solitude in different contexts and populations, but has not gone so far as to examine the benefits of solitude in conjunction with how this knowledge might inform policy and interventions aimed at addressing loneliness.

There is no one agreed definition of loneliness or solitude within research. Broadly speaking, loneliness is defined as when a person does not have the quality or quantity of relationships which they would like (Barreto et al., 2021; Cacioppo & Cacioppo, 2012), so it is possible to feel lonely even when there is a supportive network in place (Rodriguez et al., 2020). Loneliness has also been linked to other forms of emotional loss such as illness and retirement (Victor, 2019) or even a yearning for a particular landscape (Ozawa-de Silva & Parsons, 2020). In fact, the experiences of life changes, whether planned or unplanned, have the potential to provoke existential loneliness and a visceral sense of feeling alienated and isolated from a meaningful life (Davies, 1996; Victor, 2019). This feeling of loneliness might also be due to discrimination, abandonment, rejection (Ozawa-de Silva & Parsons, 2020), or stigma (Malli et al., 2022; Mansfield et al., 2021). Loneliness through this lens becomes a complex and multi-dimensional experience that can include feelings of loss, rejection, and disconnection.

Solitude has been defined as being intentionally, physically alone (Nguyen, Weinstein, & Ryan, 2021; Thomas, 2021). In some instances, solitude has also been framed as being alone despite the presence of others (Long et al., 2003), such as when one is in their own mental space and not interacting. It can be viewed as a positive experience, although the cultural narrative often conflates loneliness, isolation, and solitude as negative and unwanted. People may benefit from solitude, but the stigma of solitude is a barrier that can prevent people spending time alone or understanding this time as an opportunity (Dahlberg, 2007). Such solitude stigma pervades Western culture by colouring expectations about solitude and comfort within it (Ren & Stavrova, 2023); it may also affect how we judge others who select to be alone (Galanaki, 2014).

There is a body of evidence that shows loneliness is associated with poorer wellbeing. For instance, loneliness is associated with poor physical/all-cause mortality among adults (Hawkley & Cacioppo, 2010; Rico-Uribe et al., 2018), wellbeing (e.g. quality of life, life satisfaction; Park et al., 2020), and general health concerns such as sleep problems, colds and headaches in adults (Park et al., 2020), depression and anxiety (Mann et al., 2022). This can also impact life choices (e.g. academic outcomes; Eccles et al., 2020) and society in general (Meisters et al., 2021). In contrast to loneliness, solitude in its positive form has a 'de-activation effect' (Nguyen et al., 2018), which describes time alone that reduces the intensity of higharousal emotions, such as anger or excitement, while increasing low-arousal emotions. As a result, solitude can lead to a sense of relaxation, increasing calm or peaceful emotions (Lay et al., 2019; Toyoshima & Kusumi, 2022; Weinstein et al., 2021), although in some situations when not desired or controlled has also been found to create higher cortisol levels in younger adults (Pauly et al., 2016). More research, especially longitudinal research, is needed to fully understand the multi-dimensional experiences of loneliness and solitude, and in particular whether loneliness predicts reduction in health for healthy people in different context and populations.

3.1 What the paper covers

We examined the adult lived experience, and reviewed papers which included mostly qualitative data on the perceptions and experiences of being and feeling alone. We included literature that presented experiences of positive and valued alone time, and also research that highlighted painful, negative, shameful, and problematic alone time. As much as possible, the most relevant and well-known papers were reviewed, as long as they included qualitative data on adult populations.

3.2 What the paper does not cover

A number of papers have been excluded from the current discussion of the research, even though they would otherwise be included in a comprehensive review. The current exploration was not intended to address quantitative measures for solitude and loneliness, intervention effectiveness, traits of loneliness and solitude, or frequency and severity of experiences. We do not discuss specific subpopulations, situational definitions, and context of loneliness or solitude. Papers on specific clinical populations or those with specific mental health disorders are also not included. We have also excluded research involving children and adolescents.

Several excellent and informative research papers and policy documents exist that address these excluded populations, and some of the more specific and nuanced areas not covered in this white paper. Links to some of this research and other resources can be found in Section 2.1 and Section 9.

4. Method

4.1 Criteria for the review

A selective literature review was undertaken between 1st November 2022 and 31st March 2023, meaning the included literature was purposefully selected using a defined set of parameters (Table 1).

Table 1. Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria for Literature Review

Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion Criteria
✓ Exclusion Criteria	X Children and adolescents
✓ Loneliness, solitude, aloneness terms and their synonyms (e.g. lonely, seclusion, solitary)	X Measures and intervention studies
✓ Mental health and wellbeing correlates	X Hard copy articles not available electronically (due to rapid review process)
✓ Perceptions of/ attitudes towards/ experiences of	
✓ Electronic articles, published and unpublished	

4.2 Stage 1

The literature review was undertaken using a systematic method as described by Booth et al.(2016) and included an analysis stage of thematically coding the data as described by Braun and Clarke (2022). The process was systematically undertaken using a transparent process justifying why each paper was included, and how the extracted data were coded and turned into themes. This resulted in a number of themes which reflected the literature positions.

4.3 Stage 2

Following the completion of the literature review the team of collaborators convened in three Round Table discussions to review the findings and discuss how they inform policy development. The discussion points from the Round Tables are presented here, with clear recommendations from the team.

5. Findings

5.1 Social narratives and conversations need to shift away from stigmatising solitude to recognising its benefits

Social expectations can play a significant role in shaping how a person perceives time alone. Pressure to be socially involved and accepted by others (Leontiev, 2019), and to be a certain way with others (i.e. happy not sad; Bastian et al., 2015) puts demands on a person. Others may negatively judge the person who spends too much time in solitude (Thomas, 2023), which can result in feelings of shame and loneliness when alone (Long & Averill, 2003). An emphasis on relationships in a person's life can create feelings of isolation when a relationship is not satisfactory (Heu et al., 2021), where those that feel lonely are considered inept and incapable of relationships, or even deemed 'abnormal' (Malli et al., 2022). Also, when friends do not provide needed support a person may feel isolated and alone (Heu et al., 2021).

Solitary experiences can also be shaped by one's perception of the surrounding social environment. For instance, Birditt et al. (2019) posit that feeling socially threatened will impact the wellbeing evaluation of solitude. This is also the case when alone in public, where there might be certain norms around what types of behaviours are more appropriate (Ratner & Hamilton, 2015). These norms might be particularly salient for middle-aged or older women because of social expectations around having families and children. So, women especially tend to feel more stigma when eating alone in public, which can result in increased loneliness (Nguyen et al., 2023). On the other hand, a general sense of social connectedness is associated with more wellbeing when alone (liang et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2022; Pauly et al., 2018); this theme has been studied more often in older adults who are generally more likely to benefit from solitude time (Chen & Liu, 2023; Ost Mor et al., 2021; Pauly et al., 2016).

What is needed in society is a new understanding of the wellbeing benefits of solitude, which is a different experience to feeling lonely. Paradoxically, solitude has the potential to overcome the social stigma associated with loneliness; solitude offers time to be 'with oneself' and has been related to a sense of freedom from social pressures, choice, and self-reliance (Weinstein et al., 2021; 2023). In addition, in solitude, people have the opportunity and time to self-reflect; they can think through previous experiences and plan for future ones, or they can be present and think about the moment (Naor & Mayseless, 2020; Thomas, 2021; Weinstein et al., 2023).

Overall, it is beholden on society to remove the stigma ascribed to solitude by appreciating and valuing the moments when solitude is beneficial. If individuals feel supported by their communities regarding their pursuit of solitude, they are less likely to feel lonely or isolated when alone (Mikulincer et al., 2021). Of course, solitude can sometimes be difficult (even for those who enjoy solitude), and has been linked to ruminative thought (Lay, 2018). However, targeting maladaptive thoughts through the reframing of solitude as positive has been shown to boost resilience (Rodriguez et al., 2020).

5.2 The physical environment needs be a safe psychological space with opportunities for solitude and interactions with others

When our environment is structured so that it supports both strong and weak ties - friendship and nodding acquaintanceship - it is more likely that we have the peace and sense of safety to enjoy time alone. This might be parents dropping off their children at school or nursery, walking in a local park, or a street that feels safe to stop on for a quick chat; when we get around on foot we are more likely to say hello to someone than if we are in a private car. Recent research (Marquez et al., 2023) shows how loneliness varies from one area to another even when the demographics of that area are taken into account. This makes strong intuitive sense – we can all think of places we have lived or parts of our neighbourhood that make us feel connected; we can also think of spaces that do the opposite and increase feelings of disconnection.

Large monolithic buildings often alienate us, whereas a more human scale with points of interest makes

us feel at home. Recently, research has found a relationship between being near trees and lower loneliness (Astell-Burt et al., 2022). Hammoud et al. (2021) identified, using smart phone technology, that over-crowded urban environments were associated with higher levels of loneliness, whilst contact with nature and good social inclusivity were associated with lower levels of loneliness. Spending time in natural environments has also been found to improve psychological wellbeing and reduced feelings of loneliness during the COVID-19 pandemic (Phillips et al., 2021). Nature and green urban spaces are ideal locations to feel at peace alone; they are also places where weak social ties can often take place. When a person is connected to nature or animals, this is often reported as a meaningful connection, and can be felt whether in a garden or some other natural landscape (Dahlberg, 2007). Moreover, creating space for nature in urban environments has been found to increase affinity for solitude (Lee & Scott, 2017).

Finally, and perhaps most importantly for feeling happy in solitude, there is the role of crime and antisocial behaviour to consider. There are clear associations between perceptions of crime and feeling lonely, as was found in a study examining worry about crime in former Soviet Union countries (Stickley et al., 2023). In general, there is no simple association between being part of an ethnic minority and being lonely, but there is a link between harassment or feeling discriminated against and loneliness (Lee & Bierman, 2019).

5.3 Choice, individual differences, and opportunities to socially interact and spend time alone need to be addressed for good health and wellbeing

Several studies have looked at motivation for solitude from the framework of Self-Determination Theory — one of the most prominent motivation theories in psychology (Ryan & Deci, 2017). Within this framework, there are two types of motivation for solitude: a self-determined motivation represents reasons for spending time alone covering self-discovery, creativity and for rest, whereas a non-self-determined motivation represents reasons for

spending time alone which are due to social hurts, fear of rejection, or social anxiety (Thomas & Azmitia, 2019). Several studies have shown that emerging adults who have more self-determined reasons for spending time alone tend to have more positive self-views (Nguyen et al., 2021; Thomas & Azmitia, 2019). In contrast, those with more non-self-determined reasons show more negative psychological symptoms such as loneliness and depression (Thomas & Azmitia, 2019).

The distinction of different types of motivation for solitude highlights the importance of choice in solitary experiences. While solitude has been shown to dampen strong emotions and allows opportunities for rest and recovery, this effect is only apparent for those who have more choice in how they spend time alone (Nguyen et al., 2018). Researchers have found evidence of how much choice matters in solitude by looking at situations when research participants get to choose which activities to do (Study 3, Nguyen et al., 2018), or whether they spend time alone for self-determined reasons (Study 4, Nguyen et al., 2018).

Additional evidence comes from qualitative interviews, where choice was mentioned as one important component of positive solitude (Ost Mor et al., 2021; Weinstein et al., 2023). People also described positive experiences in solitude as the freedom to spend the time in whatever way they wished and the ability to be comfortable with their own company without having to make compromises (Weinstein et al., 2021). Therefore, both quantitative and qualitative data support the role of choice in solitude, and explain why many negative accounts of solitude often came from situations where solitude was enforced, such as the case of solitary confinement in prisons, the use of time-out as punishment for children, or the lockdowns of the COVID-19 pandemic. These negative emotional experiences are more likely when people are 'stuck' in solitude (Elmer et al., 2020), whether physically or emotionally. It is no wonder that scholars have increasingly argued that to live a psychologically balanced life, people need both time alone and time with others (Davies, 1996; Littman-Ovadia, 2019; Manusov, 2020).

5.4 The skill of finding a balance between self-connection and community-connection needs to be actively taught

Individuals can be out of balance either by spending too little time alone or too much time alone. The latter imbalance typically garners the most concern because of its associations with social anxiety and social avoidance (Nguyen et al., 2022). However, when people neglect time in solitude, they do so at the potential cost of losing touch with their authentic selves (Averill & Sunderarajan, 2014) and miss opportunities for personal growth (Davies et al., 2016; Lay et al., 2019; Malli et al., 2022). Causes for imbalance in this direction can range from an avoidance of solitude due to fear of boredom and loneliness, to an inability to carve out the time or find private space to be alone (Thomas, 2021).

When individuals are prevented from accessing time alone, they can experience aloneliness, defined as a state of dissatisfaction and decreased wellbeing stemming from thwarted solitude (Coplan et al., 2019). Thus, it is important to maintain a balance of social and solitary activities in daily life and to know how to shift from one state to another when necessary (Elmer et al., 2020; Littman-Ovadia, 2019). This requires a certain level of self-attunement, whereby individuals notice whether they are feeling lonely for self-connection or lonely for community-connection,

and then have the wisdom to remove themselves from the current context to correct the imbalance (Larson, 1990; Thomas, 2021).

Scholars have argued that certain psychological and practical skills may be necessary for an individual to maintain such a balance and benefit from solitude when they engage in it. Thomas (2021) identified a set of solitude skills, the core of which is the ability to be introspective, regulate emotions, and enjoy solitary activities. High capacity in these areas collectively fosters development of one's inner world (Dahlberg, 2007; Littman-Ovadia, 2019; Long et al., 2003; Weinstein et al., 2021), and serves to prevent an individual from falling into loneliness, boredom, or despair (Lay et al., 2019). The skill of validating or reframing solitude as a positive and worthwhile pursuit is also necessary, especially if one has been socialized by family or culture to view the desire to be alone through a deficit lens (Rodriguez et al., 2021; Thomas, 2021).

Taken together, these findings have led researchers to propose that skills training be designed and implemented with adults. Such interventions are theorised to have clinical value in alleviating loneliness and fostering psychological wellbeing when individuals have learned to effectively utilise solitude as a resource (Leontiev, 2019; Pauly et al., 2022; Rokach, 2018; Thomas, 2021; Uziel & Schmidt-Barad, 2022).

6. Recommendations

The recommendations are intended to complement and add to the existing policy work. They are broad themes to stimulate discussions and engender new ways of thinking about the role of solitude in social policy.

6.1 Conversations and Definitions

The reluctance to admit to feeling lonely is formed by the cultural constructions of loneliness as something to be ashamed of (Baretto et al., 2023; Kirk et al., 2017); a desire to seek solitude is similarly viewed through a deficit lens (Thomas, 2021). As such, the negative social perceptions of solitude increase feelings of stigma and shame in alone situations and increase the risk of feeling lonely (Rodriguez et al., 2020). The stigma from both loneliness and solitude highlight how Western society defines the implicit expectations and judgements by which we all live our lives (Gergen, 2015). These values change over time and space: what one generation or culture values and accepts, another might devalue and reject. This offers hope that we can begin to shift the conversations to overcome the stigma of loneliness and solitude.

Ways to do this:

Solitude has many positive qualities which are rarely discussed. For instance, it is important to take the time to pause and reflect away from the 'doing' of life to ensure that we remain in touch with our inner selves (Littman-Ovadia, 2019) and solitude restores the self by allowing one to be 'off-stage' for a while (Birditt et al., 2019). There is also evidence of long-term benefits of building solitude into one's life. It has been found that, in adults, positively-felt time alone correlates with less sadness, fewer physical health issues, better life satisfaction, less boredom, and less loneliness (Littman-Ovadia, 2019; Thomas, 2021). When conversations clearly distinguish the differences between solitude and loneliness, they open up a new dialogue about the value of solitude. Sharing evidence-based information on what solitude could offer within mental health, loneliness, and community wellbeing initiatives has the potential to increase awareness and acceptance that time alone can be very rewarding and beneficial for building self-connection and reducing social pressures (Weinstein et al., 2021).

In combination with generating conversations on the value of solitude moments, the conversation should also extend to the concept of loneliness. Often loneliness is perceived as an individual-level deficit, yet as has been discussed in this paper, it can be felt when the environment presents barriers or there is a feeling of helplessness and despair about life more broadly. Therefore, anyone can feel lonely if their environment or the ability to live life authentically is compromised, regardless of how socially connected they might be (Borawski, 2021). Conversations should include these external and societal factors that can often contribute to feelings of loneliness. Therefore, in line with other recent work aimed at identifying the evidence-gaps in loneliness research (https:// www.gov.uk/government/publications/tacklingloneliness-evidence-review), we argue that there is a need to reconsider how loneliness is operationalised, whether at the individual or the community level, and that this needs to happen for all ages and across cultures.

6.2 Physical Space

Physical space needs to feel safe, welcoming and accessible; if not, it might push people to self-isolate and experience distrust of those around them. It deprives individuals of a community of others, which increases chances of loneliness and decreases the chance of positive alone time (Averill & Sunderarajan, 2014). What matters here is that there is a range of welcoming options available that will work for all parts of a community. We need shops and libraries, cafes and community centres, religious and spiritual buildings, public houses, eating places, and other facilities which are valued as part of a thriving community. What we have in common is a remarkably consistent need for nature, so green spaces are also very important in our urban landscapes, increasing social connection and positive time alone.

Ways to do this:

Firstly, there is a need for clear commitment from policymakers that they are going to make a difference on this issue. It's also important to draw on the research that has already been done and to continue to move it forwards. What works best is to genuinely involve local communities in finding the best ways of creating more welcoming neighbourhoods. A bench in one place could be the ideal place for people to catch up, but the same bench in another place could be a magnet for antisocial behaviour. This kind of involvement was a central part of the recent feedback from community projects which have been supported by the Campaign to End Loneliness (https:// www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/tacklingloneliness/tackling-loneliness-through-the-builtenvironment/). Therefore, it is clear that public health strategies would benefit from recognising the way the built environment impacts health (Hammoud et al., 2021). This needs to include accessible, safe and interactive green spaces and offer people reasonable choice of where they go, what they do, and who they are with.

6.3 Psychological Support

The physical space needs to be complemented with the capacity to address issues of feeling lonely or alienated, and to enable moments of solitude. Social loneliness, found in populations of young adults as well as older adults over 50 years of age, is defined as a feeling of disconnection across life domains, with accompanying experiences of helplessness, powerlessness, stigma and shame (Mansfield et al., 2021). Interventions empower individuals to address these feelings and make changes in their life or perspective and have good potential to increase enjoyment of their community, interactions, and moments of solitude.

Ways to do this:

There are a number of effective tools already used to support psychological wellbeing, such as Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT), mindfulness, and various positive psychology approaches (https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/ wp-content/uploads/Psychology_of_Loneliness_ FINAL_REPORT.pdf). These approaches do not ignore the distress or existential issues facing each individual; we need to encourage acceptance and understanding of what is driving the feelings of distress or loneliness, and what the person can do to empower themselves to live the life they wish to live. Sometimes people may need encouragement to interact with others; at other times, people will need encouragement to spend time alone. Marginalised groups, in particular, need to be given support to be who they are and to be able to live within the community fully. Community-led support groups are one way of offering these groups a voice.

6.4 Community and Educational Resourcing

Because cultural messages contribute to individual attitudes and behaviours around time alone, both the individual and the community share the role of normalizing solitude as part of healthy development. Without this individuals will continue to feel that other people do not support their alone time and may then feel self-doubt, have negative views of themselves, and ruminate on their expectations of themselves (Nguyen et al., 2021). Creating a community approach to learning the skills of solitude fosters a shared recognition that time alone is beneficial and valued. Indeed, research indicates that solitude's benefits are not restricted to the individual; they also serve interpersonal relationships and community integration, given that the restoration and regulation that occurs during solitude results in a more emotionally balanced and receptive individual who can engage more constructively in those relationships (Birditt et al., 2019; Thomas, 2023).

Ways to do this:

Communities and individuals alike benefit from the creativity found within solitude (Sosa & Gero, 2012). Increasing opportunities for teaching how to spend time in quiet reflection and imagination through educational programmes within institutions and communities is a way of ensuring everyone has the capacity to be in the solitude space. This recognises that learning does not always need to take place in busy group environments. Mental processing requires quiet contemplation and space to be creative and meditative, and engaging in creativity might even reduce feelings of loneliness (Pauly et al., 2022).

Forming community-led programmes which value solitude skills and collectively share the learning of the benefits and pitfalls of solitude has the potential to build resilience and adaptability to encourage spaces for positive solitude to grow. Education programmes which show people how to benefit from solitude and how to find connections to other people, the environment, and themselves would begin to normalise alone time. This also has the potential to reduce feelings of loneliness that currently can arise through cultural stigma and shame about spending time alone. These educational programmes should be developed with stakeholders to include academics, policy developers, third sector organisations, and most importantly, the individuals and community groups who experience loneliness.

7. Conclusion and Next Steps

Our recommendations offer a high-level set of ideas into what researchers, practitioners, and policy makers should consider when designing interventions to engender a full range of connections within our communities. They address loneliness in an indirect way: through the valuing of time alone in solitude. Further work is needed to identify the individual and community approaches and how they might be facilitated, and by whom.

These recommendations are designed to complement, and not take away from, the good work already being undertaken to reduce loneliness and increase psychological wellbeing in communities. The simple message is that we do need social interactions and building these relationships is vitally important. But despite the negative messaging in Western cultures, we also need to be alone sometimes too, and sometimes a lack of positive time alone can be the very cause of loneliness. The project has identified several important additions to how loneliness, isolation, and their mental health consequences can be addressed. Existing interventions and policy work have begun to address the barriers to feeling connected by considering how the physical space might be used better, and therapies such as CBT have been helping individuals overcome their limiting thoughts.

This paper enhances and recognises solitude skills to enable the individual to learn to be with their emotions and thoughts, and to regulate their emotions to gain perspective. We have highlighted that feeling connected is not only possible through solitude, but can be enhanced when time alone is built into everyday life. The joining up of these different connection points within research, interventions, and policy offers an empowered future for everyone in our communities.

8. References

- Astell-Burt, T., Hartig, T., Putra, I. G. N. E., Walsan, R., Dendup, T., & Feng, X. (2022). Green space and loneliness: A systematic review with theoretical and methodological guidance for future research. In *Science of the Total Environment* (Vol. 847). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.157521
- Averill, J. R., & Sunderarajan, L. (2014). Experiences of solitude: Issues of Assessment, Theory and Cutlure. In R.J. Coplan & J.C. Bowker (Eds.), The Handbook of Solitude: Psychological Perspectives on Social Isolation, social withdrawal and being alone (pp. 90–109). John Wiley & Sons.
- Barreto, M., van Breen, J., Victor, C., Hammond, C., Eccles, A., Richins, M. T., & Qualter, P. (2022). Exploring the nature and variation of the stigma associated with loneliness. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 39(9), 2658–2679. https://doi. rg/10.1177/02654075221087190
- Barreto, M., Victor, C., Hammond, C., Eccles, A., Richins, M. T., & Qualter, P. (2021). Loneliness around the world: Age, gender, and cultural differences in loneliness. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.110066
- Bastian, B., Koval, P., Erbas, Y., Houben, M., Pe, M., & Kuppens, P. (2015). Sad and Alone: Social Expectancies for Experiencing Negative Emotions Are Linked to Feelings of Loneliness. Social Psychological and Personality Science, 6(5), 496–503. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550614568682

- Birditt, K. S., Manalel, J. A., Sommers, H., Luong, G., Fingerman, K. L., & Pruchno, R. (2019). Better off Alone: Daily Solitude Is Associated with Lower Negative Affect in More Conflictual Social Networks. *Gerontologist*, 59(6), 1152–1161. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny060
- Booth, A., Sutton, A., & Papioannou, D. (2016). Systematic Approaches to a Successful Literature Review (Second). Sage.
- Borawski, D. (2021). Authenticity and rumination mediate the relationship between loneliness and wellbeing. *Current Psychology*, 40(9), 4663–4672. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-019-00412-9
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2022). *Thematic* Analysis: A Practical Guide. Sage Publications.
- Cacioppo, J. T., & Cacioppo, S. (2012). The phenotype of loneliness. In European Journal of Developmental Psychology (Vol. 9, Issue 4, pp. 446–452). https://doi.org/10.1080/174 05629.2012.690510
- Chen, Y., & Liu, X. (2023). How solitude relates to wellbeing in old age: A review of inter-individual differences. Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 64(1), 30–39.
- Coplan, R. J., Hipson, W. E., Archbell, K. A., Ooi, L. L., Baldwin, D., & Bowker, J. C. (2019). Seeking more solitude: Conceptualization, assessment, and implications of aloneliness. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 148, 17–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.05.020

- Dahlberg, K. (2007). The enigmatic phenomenon of loneliness.

 International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Wellbeing, 2(4), 195–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/17482620701626117
- Davies, M. G. (1996). Solitude and loneliness: An integrative model. *Journal of Psychology and Theology*, 24(1), 3–12. https://doi. org/10.1177/009164719602400101
- Eccles, A. M., Qualter, P., Madsen, K. R., & Holstein, B. E. (2020). Loneliness in the lives of Danish adolescents:

 Associations with health and sleep. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 48(8), 877–887. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494819865429
- Elmer, T., Geschwind, N., Peeters, F., Wichers, M., & Bringmann, L. (2020). Getting stuck in social isolation: Solitude inertia and depressive symptoms. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 129(7), 713–723. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000588
- Galanaki, E. (2014). The Origins of Solitude: Psychoanalytical perspective. In R.J. Coplan & J.C. Bowker (Eds.), The Handbook of Solitude: Psychological Perspectives on Social Isolation, Social Withdrawal and Being Alone (pp. 71–89). John Wiley and Sons Ltd.
- Gergen, K. J. (2015). *An Invitation to Social Construction* (Third). Sage.

- Hammoud, R., Tognin, S., Bakolis, I., Ivanova, D., Fitzpatrick, N., Burgess, L., Smythe, M., Gibbons, J., Davidson, N., & Mechelli, A. (2021). Lonely in a crowd: investigating the association between overcrowding and loneliness using smartphone technologies. Scientific Reports, 11(1), 1–12. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-03398-2
- Hawkley, L. C., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2010). Loneliness matters: A theoretical and empirical review of consequences and mechanisms. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 40(2), 218-227. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12160-010-9210-8
- Heu, L. C., van Zomeren, M., & Hansen, N. (2021). Does Loneliness Thrive in Relational Freedom or Restriction? The Culture-Loneliness Framework. Review of General Psychology, 25(1), 60-72. https://doi. org/10.1177/1089268020959033
- Jiang, D., Fung, H. H., Lay, J. C., Ashe, M. C., Graf, P., Hoppmann, C. A., Jiang, D., Fung, H. H., Lay, J. C., & Ashe, M. C. (2019). Everyday solitude, affective experiences, and wellbeing in old age: the role of culture versus immigration. Aging & Mental Health, 23(9), 1095-1104. https://doi.org/10.1 080/13607863.2018.1479836
- Kirk, K., Bal, E., & Janssen, S. R. (2017). Migrants in liminal time and space: an exploration of the experiences of highly skilled Indian bachelors in Amsterdam. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 43(16), 2771-2787. https://doi.org/10.1080/136918 3X.2017.1314600

- Larson, R. W. (1990). The solitary side of life: An examination of the time people spend alone from childhood to old age. Developmental Review, 10(2), 155-183. https://doi. org/10.1016/0273-2297(90)90008-R
- Lay, J.C. (2018). Alone but not lonely? Distinct types, antecedents, and correlates of older and younger adults' daily life solitude experiences in two cultural context. University of British Columbia.
- Lay, Jennifer C., Pauly, T., Graf, P., Biesanz, J. C., & Hoppmann, C. A. (2019). By myself and liking it? Predictors of distinct types of solitude experiences in daily life. Journal of Personality, 87(3), 633-647. https://doi. org/10.1111/jopy.12421
- Lee, S., & Scott, D. (2017). Natural environment influencing people's affinity for solitude. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening, 21, 235–238. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2016.11.016
- Lee, Y., & Bierman, A. (2019). Loneliness as a Mediator of Perceived Discrimination and Depression: Examining Education Contingencies. International Journal of Aging and Human Development, 89(2), 206-227. https://doi. org/10.1177/0091415018763402
- Leontiev, D. (2019). The dialectics of aloneness: positive vs. negative meaning and differential assessment. Counselling Psychology Quarterly, 32(3-4), 548-562. https://doi.org/10.1 080/09515070.2019.1640186
- Littman-Ovadia, H. (2019). Doing-Being and Relationship-Solitude: A Proposed Model for a Balanced Life. Journal of Happiness Studies, 20(6), 1953–1971. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10902-018-0018-8

- Long, C. R., & Averill, J. R. (2003). Solitude: An exploration of benefits of being alone. Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour, 33(1), 21–44. https:// doi.org/10.1111/1468-5914.00204
- Long, C. R., Seburn, M., Averill, J. R., & More, T. A. (2003). Solitude experiences: Varieties, settings, and individual differences. In Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin (Vol. 29, Issue 5, pp. 578-583). https://doi. org/10.1177/0146167203029005003
- Luo, M., Pauly, T., Röcke, C., & Hülür, G. (2022). Alternating time spent on social interactions and solitude in healthy older adults. British Journal of Psychology, 113(4), 987-1008. https:// doi.org/10.1111/bjop.12586
- Malli, M. A., Ryan, S., Maddison, I., & Kharicha, K. (2022). Experiences and meaning of loneliness beyond age and group identity. Sociology of Health and Illness, November 2021, 70-89. https:// doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.13539
- Mann, F., Wang, J., Pearce, E., Ma, R., Schlief, M., Lloyd-Evans, B., Ikhtabi, S., & Johnson, S. (2022). Loneliness and the onset of new mental health problems in the general population. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 57(11), 2161-2178. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-022-02261-7
- Mansfield, L., Victor, C., Meads, C., Daykin, N., Tomlinson, A., Lane, J., Gray, K., & Golding, A. (2021). A conceptual review of loneliness in adults: Qualitative evidence synthesis. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(21). https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph182111522

- Manusov, V. (2020). In praise of voluntary solitude: the "fertile void" and its role in communication and relationships. *Atlantic Journal of Communication*, 28(1), 68–83. https://doi.org/10.1080/15456870.2020.168 4158
- Marquez, J., Goodfellow, C., Hardoon, D., Inchley, J., Leyland, A. H., Qualter, P., Simpson, S. A., & Long, E. (2023). Loneliness in young people: a multilevel exploration of social ecological influences and geographic variation. *Journal of Public Health*, 45(1), 109–117. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdab402
- Meisters, R., Westra, D., Putrik, P., Bosma, H., Ruwaard, D., & Jansen, M. (2021). Does Loneliness Have a Cost? A Population-Wide Study of the Association Between Loneliness and Healthcare Expenditure. *International Journal of Public Health*, 66(February), 581286. https://doi.org/10.3389/ ijph.2021.581286
- Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., & Gal, I. (2021). An attachment perspective on solitude and loneliness. In R. J. Coplan & J. C. Bowker (Ed.), The handbook of solitude: Psychological perspectives on social isolation, social withdrawal, and being alone. Wiley Blackwell.
- Naor, L., & Mayseless, O. (2020). The Wilderness Solo Experience: A Unique Practice of Silence and Solitude for Personal Growth. Frontiers in Psychology, 11(September), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpsyg.2020.547067
- Nguyen, T.-T., Taylor-Bower, E. & Yau, K. (2023). Solitude in context: A systematic review of how social norms and physical environment shape perceptions of solitary experiences. *Unpublished*.PsyArXiv. https://psyarxiv.com/xb8gd

- Nguyen, T. T., Weinstein, N., & Ryan, R. M. (2021). The Possibilities of Aloneness and Solitude: Developing an Undersatnding Framed through of Human Motivation and Needs. In R.J. Coplan, J. C. Bowker, & L. Nelson (Eds.), The Handbook of Solitude: Psychological Perspective on Social Isolation, Social Withdrawal and Being Alone (Second). Wiley-Blackwell Press.
- Nguyen, T. V. T., Weinstein, N., & Ryan, R. M. (2022). Who enjoys solitude? autonomous functioning (but not introversion) predicts self-determined motivation (but not preference) for solitude. *PLoS ONE*, 17(5 5), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0267185
- Nguyen, T. vy T., Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2018). Solitude as an Approach to Affective Self-Regulation. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 44(1), 92–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167217733073
- Ost Mor, S., Palgi, Y., & Segel-Karpas, D. (2021). The Definition and Categories of Positive Solitude: Older and Younger Adults' Perspectives on Spending Time by Themselves. *International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 93(4), 943–962. https://doi. org/10.1177/0091415020957379
- Ozawa-de Silva, C., & Parsons, M. (2020). Toward an anthropology of loneliness. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 57(5), 613–622. https://doi. org/10.1177/1363461520961627

- Park, C., Majeed, A., Gill, H., Tamura, J., Ho, R. C., Mansur, R. B., Nasri, F., Lee, Y., Rosenblat, J. D., Wong, E., & McIntyre, R. S. (2020). The Effect of Loneliness on Distinct Health Outcomes: A Comprehensive Review and Meta-Analysis. *Psychiatry Research*, 294(January), 113514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113514
- Pauly, T., Lay, J. C., Scott, S. B., & Hoppman, C. A. (2018). Social relationship quality buffers negative affective correlates of everyday solitude in adult lifespan and older adult. *Psychology & Aging*, 33(5), 728.
- Pauly, Theresa, Chu, L., Zambrano, E., Gerstorf, D., & Hoppmann, C. A. (2022). COVID-19, Time to Oneself, and Loneliness: Creativity as a Resource. *Journals of Gerontology* - Series B Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 77(4), E30–E35. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/ gbab070
- Pauly, Theresa, Lay, J. C., Nater, U. M., Scott, S. B., & Hoppmann, C. A. (2016). How We Experience Being Alone: Age Differences in Affective and Biological Correlates of Momentary Solitude. *Gerontology*, 63(1), 55–66. https://doi.org/10.1159/000450608
- Phillips, T. B., Wells, N. M., Brown, A. H., Tralins, J. R., & Bonter, D. N. (2021). Nature and wellbeing: the association of nature engagement and wellbeing during SARS-CoV-2. *People* and *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1002/ pan3.10433
- Ratner, R. K., & Hamilton, R. W. (2015). Inhibited from bowling alone. *Journal* of Consumer Research, 42(2), 266–283.

- Ren, D., & Stavrova, O. (2023). Does a pandemic context attenuate people's negative perception and meta=perception of solitude? International Journal of Psychology, 58(2), 134-142.
- Rico-Uribe, L. A., Caballero, F. F., Martín-María, N., Cabello, M., Ayuso-Mateos, J. L., & Miret, M. (2018). Association of loneliness with all-cause mortality: A meta-analysis. PLoS ONE, 13(1), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0190033
- Rodriguez, M., Bellet, B. W., & McNally, R. J. (2020). Reframing Time Spent Alone: Reappraisal Buffers the Emotional Effects of Isolation. Cognitive Therapy and Research, 44(6), 1052–1067. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10608-020-10128-x
- Rokach, A. (2018). Effective Coping with Loneliness: A Review. Open Journal of Depression, 07(04), 61-72. https://doi. org/10.4236/ojd.2018.74005
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Selfdetermination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness. The Guilford Press.
- Sosa, R., & Gero, J. S. (2012). Brainstorming in solitude and teams: A computational study of group influence. International Conference on Computational Creativity.
- Stickley, A., Kondo, N., Inoue, Y., Kanamori, M., Kino, S., Arakawa, Y., & McKee, M. (2023). Worry about crime and loneliness in nine countries of former Soviet Union. SSM-Population Health, 21.

- Thomas, V. (2021). Solitude Skills and the Private Self. Qualitative Psychology. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/qup0000218
- Thomas, V. (2023). The Psychological Affordances of Solitude in Emerging Adulthood. Emerging Adulthood, 0(0), 1–15. https://doi. org/10.1177/21676968231151982
- Thomas, V., & Azmitia, M. (2019). Motivation matters: Development and validation of the Motivation $for \ Solitude \ Scale - Short \ Form$ (MSS-SF). Journal of Adolescence, 70(November 2018), 33-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. adolescence.2018.11.004
- Toyoshima, A., & Kusumi, T. (2022). Examining the Relationship Between Preference for Solitude and Subjective Wellbeing Among Japanese Older Adults. Innovation in Aging, 6(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igab054
- Uziel, L., & Schmidt-Barad, T. (2022). Choice Matters More with Others: Choosing to be with Other People is More Consequential to Wellbeing than Choosing to be Alone. Journal of Happiness Studies, 0123456789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-022-00506-5
- Victor, C. R. (2019). The Languages of Loneliness: Developing a Vocabulary for Researching Social Health.
- Weinstein, N., Nguyen, T. V., & Hansen, H. (2023). With My Self: Self-Determination Theory as a Framework for Understanding the Role of Solitude in Personal Growth. In R. M. Ryan (Ed.), The Oxford Handbook of Self-Determination Theory (p. 402). Oxford University Press.

Weinstein, Netta, Nguyen, T. V., & Hansen, H. (2021). What Time Alone Offers: Narratives of Solitude From Adolescence to Older Adulthood. Frontiers in Psychology, 12(November). https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpsyg.2021.714518

9. Futher Resources

Campaign to End Loneliness

https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org

Age UK

https://www.ageuk.org.uk

Loneliness and Social Isolation in Mental Health Network

https://www.ucl.ac.uk/psychiatry/research/epidemiology-and-applied-clinical-research-department/lonelinessand-social-isolation

BBC Loneliness Experiment

https://www.seed.manchester.ac.uk/education/research/impact/bbc-loneliness-experiment/

Solitude Lab

https://www.solitude-lab.com/

SOAR in solitude

https://www.soarinsolitude.info/

Solitude and Identity lab

http://virginia thomas.middcreate.net/solitude lab/













